

Health in the Communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation An Exploratory Study

Julia Bidonde, Mark Brown, Catherine Leviten-Reid, and Erin Nicolas

A research report prepared for the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite

Funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada



Entreprises sociales économies intelligentes et communautés durables

HEALTH IN THE COMMUNITIES OF DUCK LAKE AND BEARDY'S AND OKEMASIS FIRST NATION

We acknowledge with gratitude the contributions made to this project by members of the Duck Lake Primary Health Team. Without their guidance and insight, this research would not have been possible. This paper is part of a collection of research reports prepared for the project *Linking, Learning, Leveraging Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies, and Sustainable Communities,* the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite, funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

The project is managed by four regional partners the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and the Community-University Institute for Social Research at the University of Saskatchewan, the Winnipeg Inner-City Research Alliance and later the Institute of Urban Studies at the University of Winnipeg, and the Community Economic and Social Development Unit at Algoma University.

The project also includes more than fifty community-based organizations in four provinces, the United States, Colombia, and Belgium.

This particular research paper was administered by the Community-University Institute for Social Research (CUISR). The opinions of the authors found herein do not necessarily reflect those of CUISR, the Linking, Learning, Leveraging project, or the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

We acknowledge the following for their contributions to this publication: Lou Hammond Ketilson, principal investigator, Linking, Learning, Leveraging project Isobel M. Findlay, university co-director, CUISR Bill Holden, community co-director, CUISR



Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada



Health in the Communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation

AN EXPLORATORY STUDY

Julia Bidonde, Mark Brown, Catherine Leviten-Reid, and Erin Nicolas



Copyright © 2012 Julia Bidonde, Mark Brown, Catherine Leviten-Reid, and Erin Nicolas Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research University of Saskatchewan

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the publisher. In the case of photocopying or other forms of reprographic reproduction, please consult Access Copyright, the Canadian Copyright Licensing Agency, at 1–800–893–5777.

Editing, cover and interior design by Nora Russell Centre for the Study of Co-operatives

Printed in Canada 13 14 15 / 3 2 1

Centre for the Study of Co-operatives	Community-University Institute for Social Research
101 Diefenbaker Place	R.J.D. Williams Building
University of Saskatchewan	University of Saskatchewan
Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8	432 – 221 Cumberland Avenue
Phone: (306) 966–8509	Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 1M3
Fax: (306) 966–8517	Phone: (306) 966–2136 / Fax: (306) 966–2122
E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca	E-mail: cuisr.liaison@usask.ca
Website: www.usaskstudies.coop	Website: www.usask.ca.cuisr

Contents

Introduction	
BACKGROUND ON THE COMMUNITY	1
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:	
RURAL AND ABORIGINAL HEALTH	2
Rural Health	2
Aboriginal Health	4
Methods	5
Findings — Theme One	
Perceptions of Health in the Communities of	
DUCK LAKE AND BEARDY'S AND OKEMASIS FIRST NATION	6
Health Problems	6
Obesity	6
Substance Abuse	7
Mental Health	7
Changing Lifestyles	7
Parenting Skills and the Role of Parents in Promoting Health	
Youth	8
Lack of Infrastructure	8
Unhealthy Behaviours	9
Residential Schools Legacy	10
Improvements in Community Health	10
Findings — Theme Two	
Access to Programs, Services, and Infrastructure	11
Access to Health-Care Services	11
Transportation	11

Cost of Service	12
Current Services Available	12
Limitations in Service Delivery	13
Access to Community Activities	15
Activities for Youth	15
Activities for the Population in General	16
Findings — Theme Three	
Aboriginal Health	16
Experiences of Discrimination	16
Residential Schools and Health	17
The Role of Elders in the Community	18
DISCUSSION	18
Conclusions	23
APPENDIX 1	26
References	27
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	31
Centre for the Study of Co-operatives	31
Community-University Institute for Social Research	41

INTRODUCTION

THIS RESEARCH PROJECT was conducted at the request of the Duck Lake Primary Health Team (DLPHT). DLPHT's vision is "to improve the overall health and well-being of children, families, and individuals in our schools and community through access to primary health services" (DLPHT 2009). It works to accomplish this by "working in partnership to build a healthier community" (DLPHT 2009).

In December 2009, the DLPHT partnered with the Community-University Institute for Social Research (CUISR) at the University of Saskatchewan to conduct an exploratory study of health care in the communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation. Using a qualitative approach, the research project investigated community health as perceived by those who live in the communities. More specifically, this project explored the following:

- perceptions of the health of the communities
- thoughts about, and experiences with, access to programs and services
- suggestions on how to improve health in Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation

BACKGROUND ON THE COMMUNITY

DUCK LAKE IS A RURAL MUNICIPALITY, with the municipal seat being the town of Duck Lake. Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation is adjacent to this municipality.

According to the 2011 census, the municipality of Duck Lake has a population of 867 individuals (Statistics Canada 2012). A more comprehensive statistical profile of the

municipality is available only from the 2006 census. This profile shows that the median age of Duck Lake residents is 44.8 years. Thirty (or 13 percent) of the 230 census families in the community are headed by single parents. The median household income is \$42,668, and for single-parent families, this figure drops to \$12,343. Thirty percent of community residents identify themselves as Aboriginal. The unemployment rate in the community is 4.5 percent (Statistics Canada 2007).

According to 2011 census information (Statistics Canada 2012), Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation has a population of 1,322 people. Information from the 2006 census shows that the median age on the reserve is 20.9 years. One hundred and thirty (or 44.8 percent) of the 290 census families on the reserve are headed by single parents. At Beardy's, the median household income is \$19,776 and the median income for single-parent families is \$13,867. The unemployment rate is 28.3 percent (Statistics Canada 2007).

Duck Lake is situated on the northern fringe of the Saskatoon Health Region. Health services at Duck Lake are administered by the Province of Saskatchewan. At Beardy's and Okemasis, they are administered by the federal government. A letter from the DLPHT to CUISR commented that "[c]omplications arise around residence, ancestry, and boundaries in relation to responsibility of service. People tend to fall between the cracks" (2009, 1).

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: RURAL AND ABORIGINAL HEALTH

Rural Health

THERE ARE KNOWN BARRIERS to good quality health care in rural communities in Canada for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal populations. In general, the health of people living in rural and Aboriginal communities is poorer than that of their urban counterparts. Rural communities face a number of issues:

- underdeveloped health promotion programs
- a lack of diagnostic services
- poor access to emergency and acute care services
- a lack of non-acute health-care services
- underservicing of special needs groups, such as seniors and people with disabilities (Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health 2002)

Compared with urban residents, people living in rural communities have higher rates of long-term disability and chronic illness as well as infant mortality rates (Laurent 2002). Poor health status in rural areas is linked not only to a lack of services but to a broad range of socio-economic and environmental factors and conditions that influence health, such as income, opportunities for employment, and working conditions (Laurent 2002).

Studies that explore health-care services from the perspectives of rural stakeholders (including users, agencies, and administrators) document deficits with the health-care system in rural areas (Skinner et al. 2008; Ramsey and Beesley 2006; Wong and Regan 2009). Focus groups with residents living in six rural communities in British Columbia (N=50), for example, revealed concerns over the continuity of care. Participants noted the turnover of healthcare providers in their communities and the concomitant problems in how their health conditions were managed. They also noted that while they could travel to access health-care services, this resulted in out-of-pocket expenses and often had to be done on dangerous roads (Wong and Regan 2009). Interviews with individuals representing health-care agencies, the social services sector, and local government in nine rural communities across the country (N=55) revealed similar opinions about access to health services for seniors (Skinner et al. 2008). Access to health-care services was perceived as limited in rural areas due to minimal public transit, bad roads, a lack of specialists, and limited professional services, such as those for mental health. Interview participants also noted that seniors are not necessarily aware of the different services that exist in their communities, and that agencies lack the staff and resources to play a co-ordinating role in the delivery of health care. Finally, surveys done with health-district managers in rural Manitoba (N=20) revealed an interest in having more services available for local residents, including fitness facilities, better mental health services, as well as dental and elder-care services (Ramsey and Beesley 2006).

Two studies that more objectively measure the availability of health-care services also point to gaps in delivery. A longitudinal study examining nineteen rural and small towns across Canada in 1998 and 2005 found a noticeable decline in the availability of professionals such as nurses and social workers in these locales, and small reductions in the presence of physicians, dentists, and dental surgeons (Halseth and Ryser 2006). A second article offers a comparative analysis of different types of urban and rural regions in Canada (Sibley and Weiner 2011). Here, urban areas are divided into census metropolitan areas (CMAs) and census agglomerations, while rural communities are divided into three categories, all of which consist of populations less than ten thousand but vary in how they are "influenced" by urban areas. In strong metropolitan influenced zones (MIZs), at least 30 percent of the population commutes to an urban centre for work; in moderate MIZs, 5–30 percent of residents commute to urban centres; and in weak or no MIZs, 0–5 percent of people drive to urban areas for work. Interestingly, this study finds that Canadians living in both CMAs and weak or no MIZs were less likely to report having a doctor after taking into account factors including perceived health status, age, education, and occupation. This study also finds that individuals from all three rural categories were less likely to indicate unmet health-care needs. The authors interpret this finding not as an indication that a full range of health-care services is actually available in these communities, but that individuals living in rural areas have "... different expectations of the health-care system, leading to rural residents having a different threshold at which they report their needs being unmet." (Sibley and Weiner 2011, 7)

Aboriginal Health

There are significant health disparities between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people in Canada. Diabetes, for example, is prevalent among Aboriginal people (Barton et al. 2005), with rates from three to five times the national average and highest among First Nations people living on reserve (Frohlich 2006). Obesity rates in First Nations communities are also twice as high as the rest of Canada (Frohlich 2006). Although national data on infant mortality rates are not available (Health Canada 2011), regional studies have found that the First Nations rate is double that of non–First Nations people in Canada (Luo et al. 2004 and 2007, cited in Health Canada 2011). Disparities also exist among many other indicators of health, including self-reports of chronic illness (Frohlich 2006), suicide rates, and life expectancy (Health Canada 2011).

Researchers have proposed several frameworks in an attempt to explain these disparities (Adelson 2005). One is colonization, which refers to the loss of lands, resources, and selfdirection as well as the uprooting of culture and values (Adelson 2005). The social determinants of health is another; some Aboriginal people experience inequities in the conditions that determine health (Reading and Wein 2009) — lower quality housing and levels of income as well as fewer employment opportunities. Many Aboriginal people live in small communities located in rural and remote areas of the country, where access to health-care services is limited (Health Canada 2011; Frohlich 2006). An additional barrier is that many Aboriginal communities do not have the infrastructure to promote healthy lifestyle choices and behaviour (Health Council of Canada 2005). A recent survey of First Nations communities in Saskatchewan, for example, found that the majority of respondents indicated they desired infrastructure such as a swimming pool, park, playground, gym, or indoor rink (NAHO 2004).

Methods

This project used a flexible research design (Robson 2011). A student from Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation who was doing an internship with CUISR conducted interviews during the summer of 2010 with nineteen participants living in Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation. Individual interviews lasted approximately forty-five minutes. CUISR staff and a representative from the DLPHT jointly developed the open-ended interview questions.

A student transcribed the interviews, which were then coded thematically by a CUISR staff member, who then met with the DLPHT to inform them of preliminary findings.

A doctoral student with a background in community health as well as the faculty lead for the project re-read and re-coded the transcriptions. They re-did the coding to ensure that the categories that emerged from the data reflected what the interviewees said as closely as possible. Researchers grouped the codes into categories, which are presented in the results section of this report. The results section includes many excerpts taken directly from interview transcripts so that readers of this report can hear the voices of research participants. Including the excerpts is also a way to address the internal validity of this report, allowing readers to judge for themselves whether the chosen categories accurately reflect what was communicated during interviews.

This study was approved by the Behavioural Research Ethics Board at the University of Saskatchewan.

FINDINGS

Three major themes emerged from the transcripts during the data analysis:

- perceptions of health in the communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation
- access to programs, services, and infrastructure
- Aboriginal health

6

These themes are presented in detail below and also summarized in Appendix 1.

Findings — Theme One Perceptions of Health in the Communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation

THIS THEME FOCUSSES on how participants view the health of the communities. The researcher mentioned six dimensions of this theme during interviews. The first was specific health problems felt to be prevalent, such as obesity, substance abuse, and mental illness. Second, changes in lifestyle, such as a shift to convenience foods and more technology in the home, which participants felt were detrimental to health. Third, poor parenting skills and the role participants felt parents play in fostering health. Fourth, the importance of youth, i.e., healthy children and teenagers are central to the wellbeing of the community. Fifth, the legacy of residential schools and their impact on the social, emotional, and physical health of local people. And sixth, improvements in health that participants saw in the communities.

Health Problems

Obesity

Participants mentioned specific health problems within the community during the interviews. One was obesity, which participants linked to lack of physical activity, current dietary

practices, fast foods, and diabetes. One person commented, "I think ... a lot of people are overweight and not very active," while another observed, "People don't do anything active so it leads to obesity and diabetes."

Substance Abuse

Participants felt substance abuse was an issue affecting both youth in the community and the community at large, and that the drugs being used were "harder" and of more serious consequence than before. One participant stated that "...our biggest problem in the reserve is drugs; we're talking crystal meth and crack. Marijuana days are long gone."

Mental Health

Participants discussed the mental health issues in the community. While they spoke of the stigma and the reticence to disclose mental illness, they also recognized the pressing need for access to services in the community, as illustrated by the following excerpt:

I think there's a lot of depression and a lot of mental things that affect physical health. But I think depression, people that feel very alone, just everything that surrounds depression. Just everything, depression makes people feel just awful. How do you pull yourself out of that? You can go to the doctor and get all kinds of pills, but I think mental health is just a big issue here. More and more I am seeing mental health issues bringing people down physically. I really believe that. I do think that if a person can deal with their mental issues, drugs aren't always the answer. Talking to someone would probably help more.

Changing Lifestyles

Participants felt that changing lifestyles were detrimental to health. This included the fast pace of life, the reliance on ready-made foods, and new technologies in the home. As one participant observed: "One blessing in our community is that we don't have any of the McDonalds and A&W places, but I'm sure we sell a lot of convenience-type foods like cutlets and nuggets, stuff you can warm up in the oven."

Parenting Skills and the Role of Parents in Promoting Health

Participants also commented on how poor parenting skills affected the health of the community. One person noted that "we need a paradigm shift in mentality. Health is whole health; we have kids having kids, with no parenting skills; they were not taught parenting skills. [This] evolves into discipline and the whole issues of parents." A second participant spoke about the current strengths and weaknesses of family life in the community: "Socially there are a lot of problems — family problems at home, parents that are drinking or negligent ... but there are some [good] things too, like good family bonds, extended family, aunts, and grandparents. Some components are healthy and some aren't." A third participant, speaking of obesity among youth, thought that a solution was to start with parents: "Teach parents. If you see the kids after school, the parents buy it."

Youth

Interestingly, the experiences and state of young people in the community were often discussed during the interviews with no prompting from the interviewer and with no specific questions pertaining to youth in the interview guide. This suggests the centrality of youth in participants' understanding of the health of the community; it also suggests that interventions designed to improve community health should incorporate and/or target young people.

Lack of Infrastructure

Several participants spoke of the lack of infrastructure and activities for youth, which affected their health and well-being. Comments included:

The youth have nowhere to go, so they tend to hang out in the streets and end up fighting among themselves, forming gangs. That is definitely not a healthy choice; youth need a place to go.

There are so many kids that I know that don't do anything — stay in their

house, play video games, go to the store. In a way there is not enough activities in town for kids to stay active.

There is no real place for kids to go. Kids used to practically live at the poolroom. They have no place to visit and socialize. This is a problem. Now they drive around and drink in cars.

There's nothing for the kids to do around town. Shutting down that poolroom was the worst thing that could have happened. That was the hangout from when I was a kid. It closed at 11 o'clock, but it didn't matter, we all still met there. With that closed, the kids have nothing to do, so they wander around town breaking lights.... They have to have something for the kids. It's just ridiculous.

Unhealthy Behaviours

Youth were also emphasized when participants discussed poor nutrition, obesity, and the use of drugs in the community. A focus on youth was seen as central to improving people's diets and the general health of the community:

I believe parents have to take care of their children from the get go — no alcohol, no chips...

One of my big things is nutrition for kids. People get kids too much junk food, so we need to mould these little kids to know what is good for them to eat, and how to stay physically fit is important.... Just starting with the basics when you are young ... you end up having a healthy community.

Obesity, those severely overweight, especially kids. You go to school and all is junk, drinks, chocolate bars. People go and get pizza and chips; pizza is not bad but if they get it every day....

Regarding lack of physical activity and obesity, participants observed the following: " I think technology like video games and computers are adding to the problem, especially for kids. And the youth are the ones we should really be trying to keep active." Another individual commented, "[There is] ... too much screen time, too much TV time ... our kids do little activity. There is a lack of activity that is affecting our health." Regarding drugs and young people, one person noted:

I think there is beginning to be quite the drug problem with the kids. I think more drug awareness in the school is needed. And not pot, hard drugs like coke and crack. So, more drug and alcohol awareness in the schools. The three young people that drown in that accident, I think that led to more problems. That girl that hung herself, those kids were her friends. People have always drunk and [done] drugs, but now it seems like things are more extreme.

Residential Schools Legacy

Participants spoke of the difficult legacy left by the residential school system, which was devastating not only for those forced to attend but also for the communities themselves. Interviewees discussed how the residential schools contributed to alcoholism, the dismantling of families, the underdevelopment of parenting skills, to stigma, and to mental illness. One person said, "A lot of people do not talk about their residential school experience; still there is shame and stigma and stuff like that." Another participant added:

I think in this community in particular there is a lot of fallout due to residential schools. The residential schools caused a lot of generational dysfunction in families and it's going to be there for a long time because there is so much work to do.... People my age are just starting to be able to talk about it, where they couldn't before. People are more willing to talk about the things that happened there and how it made them dysfunctional as parents and just as people.

Improvements in Community Health

Although numerous problems and deficits came to light during the interviews, many respondents saw positive dimensions of health in the community as well. One participant, for example, commented, "I think our community is getting healthier, but not 100 percent, not that any place is," while another noted, "There are sectors of our community [that] are [more] health conscious and exercise and eating right than other sectors."

Although this will be described in greater detail in theme two (under Current Services

Available, page 12), participants mentioned the positive effects of a number of programs:

- counselling offered by the local school
- the creation of vegetable gardens
- the initiation of a youth centre by members of the community
- access to a variety of professionals working at school, in Duck Lake, Beardy's, or surrounding communities

Interviewees commented further:

You drive around town and you see lots of gardens and you think, wow, that's good to see. And we are fortunate now that we have noticed in the past twenty-five years, more health-related programs have come into the community and I think they're having an impact.... My personal opinion is that [health] is getting better.

It's not all doom and gloom, though. We've made good progress, especially in the past couple months with education and the health region coming together on some of these things.

> Findings — Theme Two Access to Programs, Services, and Infrastructure

Access to Health-Care Services

Access to health-care services emerged as a main theme in the transcripts. Subthemes in this section include transportation and cost as barriers to accessing health services, the availability of health-care services in the community, and suggestions on how to improve access.

Transportation

Although a medical taxi is available to individuals living at Beardy's, transportation was still identified as a barrier for people living on reserve, particularly regarding access to specialized services. As one participant observed,

I think as far as First Nations people go, I think that probably the toughest part of getting health care in the community is access to services. They won't bring the speech and language people to Duck Lake. The First Nations people have to go to Rosthern to get it. A lot of the time, we are talking about single moms with no vehicle. People don't always have access to the medical taxi to go to Rosthern, so don't you think it would be easier for the speech therapist to come to Duck Lake versus sending the thirteen pre-kindergarteners to Rosthern?

Participants also stated that many individuals in Duck Lake either do not own their own vehicles, are not able to drive, or do not have funds to pay for transportation. These situations create further barriers to health-care services. As one individual commented "... a problem is transportation for a lot of people." Another asked, "How do people get their kids to medical appointments if they have no vehicle? They're not. And they're not going to walk to the clinic with their three kids when it's minus thirty outside either."

One participant felt that driving to appointments was just part of living in rural Saskatchewan:

In Saskatchewan you'll always have to deal with distance ... no matter where you are. We have good roads that go to Saskatoon and Prince Albert. Bring it closer to home? Actually Rosthern has lots of doctors, it's actually quiet good, better than most areas. We can't expect any more. How much do you want this to cost?... I've never had a problem. [It's] also a matter of attitude and how you look after yourself. I'm tired of blaming yourself or the health system.

Cost of Service

Participants noted that certain health-care services were accessible if you had a health-care plan through your place of work. One person, for example, said he/she experienced no barriers because of the comprehensive benefit package at the office, while another commented that access to services was "... probably an issue for low-income people." Another participant commented on the high cost of living in the local nursing home, indicating that the monthly cost was \$1,600, and that "...you need money..." in order to stay there.

Current Services Available

Participants noted a number of services available in the community during the interview process. Beardy's has a new health clinic, a nutritionist, as well as a doctor who practises

there two afternoons. Duck Lake has a doctor offering services two afternoons a week, as well as the health station, which provides nursing, nutrition, and dental services. In addition, there is a counsellor and a nurse practitioner at the local school and a nursing home in the community. Participants also commented on services available to them in Rosthern and Prince Albert.

Interviewees noted positive aspects of the health-care services available, as well as synergies that have occurred in health programming. As one person commented, "We are fortunate now that we have noticed in the past twenty-five years more health-related programs have come into the community and I think they're having an impact.... With the cooking and garden projects we run, a lot more health-related services have come into the community." This person also described the development of additional programming in the community, facilitated through the local primary health team:

Through the Duck Lake primary health team, I was able to meet the nurse practitioner at the school. She came in for a few hours and spoke to our moms.... Through [this nurse practitioner], I learned that we can access all types of services. We just ran a program that was called Healthy Families, Happy Homes and we ran it for eight weeks. Each week we had a new speaker. [An individual from the health region] came in and did simple first aid and CPR. We had an addictions counsellor from Wakaw and [an individual from the health region] came in and talked to them about budgeting. The parents really enjoyed it. It was Tuesdays for two hours and we had snacks and a question-and-answer period after.

Another participant described programming provided by the nutritionist working at the health station in Duck Lake: "There is a nutritionist at the health station. She runs programs like Biggest Loser and sends out information and stuff. They have the Hundred Mile Club, where you keep track of how far you walk. When you reach a hundred miles, you can win prizes."

Limitations in Service Delivery

Despite the availability of the health-care services mentioned above, participants also identified limitations in the kinds of services available and made suggestions for improvement. First, the amount of time the doctor spends in Duck Lake was described as too limited. As one participant noted, "If you can't get into the clinic in Duck Lake when the doctor is here for those two afternoons, then you have to get to Rosthern. The doctor is also at the nursing home on Thursdays, so sometimes the doctor doesn't get to the clinic until two." Another person stated, "One of the half days that the doctor is here, he is also at the nursing home for that half day.... The nursing home will have a list of people they need seen." This individual suggested that a doctor could spend one half of every week day in the community instead.

Participants noted that the limits to the services available in Beardy's and Duck Lake were not always acknowledged by other health-care providers. One person, for example, described being asked, "'... don't you guys have your own clinic on your reserve?' But it is not like the doctor is here every day." Another participant commented:

If you are trying to go to the doctor in Rosthern, it's hard to get in, especially if you are from Duck Lake. They will say "The doctor goes to Duck Lake twice a week," but still, if you need blood work you need to go to Rosthern anyway.... If you phone there and say you are from Duck Lake ... they're kind of.... Well that's how they make me feel and other people I know.

Second, elder care is an issue in the community. Although there is a nursing home, it has a long waiting list. Further, many seniors would like to stay in their own homes for as long as possible. Those who currently require assistance in order to maintain their independence receive it from family and neighbours. Participants observed the need for assisted-living services in the community to help with personal care and to provide services such as laundry and meal preparation. They also explained that seniors who do not have access to the services they need in the community have to move away: "Lots of people move away because they can't take care of themselves."

Third, transcripts revealed that there is some lack of information regarding the kinds of services available in the communities, as well as nearby, and who is able to access them. One individual spoke about discovering that the nurse practitioner located at the school was available to provide services to the wider community: "I thought she was just there for the school, but she told me she was there for the whole community." Another person was unaware of the full extent of counselling services available in Rosthern: "As far as I know, they do have counsellors in Rosthern, but I am not that familiar. Is it for people with addictions? Is it for other issues like stress or abuse? I'm not really sure." And another participant spoke

about the lack of advertising of services in general: "[Information about health services] doesn't seem to be advertised here. I see them in Rosthern but not here. It just seems we don't know about the programs. It is not advertised; it seems they don't want everyone to be there."

Participants made a wide range of suggestions regarding how to improve health-care services and programming. One person recommended that more mental health services should be available in the community, while many recommended additional programming in the school. Specific suggestions included drug awareness programming and classes based on nutrition and healthy lifestyles for children from grades one to ten, as well as classes on how to hunt and skin deer. Participants recognized that parents had to be involved in order to ensure a positive effect on children: "We really need to start teaching a nutrition program at school, health programs, lunch programs throughout the school ... and lifestyles. Elementary is when the teachers are a real focal point in the [children's] lives. It can be strong, but again, [you] have to work with the parents."

One participant also noted that children needed to be more physically active at school: "Our kids do little activity; there is a lack of activity that is affecting our health.... I feel it is really important and I'd like to see it at school."

Access to Community Activities

Activities for Youth

As stated above in the section titled Lack of Infrastructure (page 8), participants spoke overwhelmingly about the lack of activities for young people in the community, observing the need for more infrastructure for youth. One participant went into considerable detail:

We should have some kind of gym with a weight room that they can use every day or every other day. Mainly, we need stuff for the youth. Video games, TV, computers, watching movies, that's all they do. A lot of these kids don't even go and play outside anymore. So I think we need more all-year-around activities.... Some kind of pool room or something would be good. The kids have nothing to do and it leads to them getting into trouble.

Participants expressed great support for a youth centre in the early phases of develop-

ment in Duck Lake. It was described as a place for young people to hang out, a place where they will take ownership and be involved in making decisions about how the centre is run. One interviewee noted the need for more volunteers to help get the centre off the ground: "I feel we need to get more people involved ... we need more people, more community members to volunteer, and not only parents but grandparents."

Participants agreed that there were some existing activities available for youth in the community, citing hockey and soccer specifically: "Lots of people are still into hockey and soccer. We actually have ... five boys from Beardy's leaving to play soccer in Europe on Thursday with the Native Sons Team." It was noted, however, that both were seasonal and that hockey was an expensive sport.

Activities for the Population in General

Participants also noted a lack of infrastructure for people of all ages, suggesting the need for a swimming pool and tennis courts in Duck Lake. One person commented that there should be more recreational opportunities for seniors as well.

> Findings — Theme Three Aboriginal Health

Health as it relates specifically to Aboriginal people emerged as a theme in the interview transcripts. Subthemes included experiences with discrimination in the health-care system, the legacy of the residential school system, specific health-related problems of the Aboriginal population, and the potential role of Elders in building community health.

Experiences of Discrimination

Participants spoke of the discrimination they have encountered in the healthcare system. One participant shared the following story:

I've seen discrimination in the health system. I have spent a lot of time in the hospital. The nurses may not realize I am Aboriginal and that I see all of this. They talk down to Natives and it's upsetting. Look at my daughter, she's married to a Native and her kids don't look Native whatsoever. Then when she goes, their medicine is free and they look at her like, you know. Her kids are really white, but their dad is Native so the kids are registered. This one cream that my daughter needed, Indian Affairs didn't pay for it and the pharmacist said, "Oh, I didn't fill it because I didn't think you would want it because you have to pay for it." My daughter said, "Well, we need it." The pharmacist said again, "Well, Indian Affairs doesn't pay for it." My daughter said, "It doesn't matter, we need it." And my daughter goes to school with another girl and the same thing happened to her. The pharmacist assumed she wouldn't want the medication because she had to pay for it. They just assume right away because you're Native, you won't take the medicine. Stuff like that just drives you crazy.

A second issue focussed on the willingness of non-Aboriginal health-care professionals to work with the Aboriginal population. As one participant commented,

Sometimes, I think it is the people in place.... I think some [health-care workers] aren't comfortable around Aboriginal people, and those aren't the people you need working in a community that is all or at least 90 percent Aboriginal.... It's true, but people don't say it.

Participants have also experienced discrimination via the framework through which health care is delivered in the community, i.e., it may not be provided in a manner that encompasses Aboriginal perspectives on health and well-being. As one participant stated, "[I'm] not sure if people will be receptive to [counselling] ... I don't want to say white people, white way of thinking. Maybe some are. I know that what happens to us is through culture. My mom is a pipe carrier. [They are] not aware of healing circles and things like that." Another person commented, "The Saskatoon Health Region, I do not see any Aboriginal influence in it, not within our community. When you hear Saskatoon Health Region, [it] doesn't bring relief or any positiveness to me as an Aboriginal woman."

Residential Schools and Health

Participants spoke earlier in this report about the impact of the residential school system on the Aboriginal community. The experience has undermined the trust Aboriginal people are able to instill in different institutions, including the health-care sector. As one participant noted,

I think Aboriginal people, maybe First Nations people even more than Métis, are leery of the education system, the justice system, and the health system because they believe they haven't been treated fairly by all three. And those are the three major social safety blankets that we are supposed to have in society. This makes it difficult for Aboriginal people to be healthy because they don't have trust in those systems.

Another individual, in the context of the residential school system, commented, "There's just so much hurting out there," while a third observed, "A lot of people do not talk about their residential school experience; still there is shame and stigma and stuff like that."

The Role of Elders in the Community

Elders were noted as playing an important role in the well-being of the Aboriginal population. One participant, providing an example of how to strengthen connections between Elders and youth, commented:

British Columbia has done a phenomenal job at combining day-care centres and Elder centres; it is amazing. Elders come and plan their week, month events, kids come after school, and they get the language at the same time. They have so much positive feedback building strong leadership, because I think Elders have all this knowledge, but sometimes they don't know where to go, so where are they going to put it, who are they going to send it to, pass that knowledge down? This is a way to bring them together, so it is amazing, having a building where the Elder and youth are together. There will be some bonding happening there.

DISCUSSION

THIS STUDY EXPLORES community health in Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation, Saskatchewan. Specific research questions include perceptions of the health of the community, thoughts about and experiences with access to programs and services, and suggestions on how to improve community health. Researchers interviewed nineteen local residents and analyzed the results thematically.

Findings reveal many dimensions of health in the communities that are consistent with the literature on both Aboriginal and rural health. These include problems identified by the participants such as obesity, substance abuse, and mental illness. As the literature notes, the prevalence of these health problems is higher in rural as well as in Aboriginal populations (Health Canada 2003; Laurent 2002). The challenges participants mentioned in accessing services are also consistent: the need to travel outside of the community to see specialists, the lack of elder-care services in the community, and the limited availability of doctors (Halseth and Ryser 2006; Ramsey and Beesley 2006; Skinner et al. 2008; Wong and Regan 2009).

Three findings that diverged from initial expectations regarding what would be found in the data include the participants' focus on young people, the statements regarding both health-care workers' attitudes toward Aboriginal people and the Western paradigm through which services are delivered, and the positive statements made about existing and evolving services in Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation.

Regarding the emphasis on youth, the subject came up throughout the interviews, even though none of the questions or probes addressed this target group. At early meetings between members of the DLPHT and the research team, in fact, DLPHT people felt that access to health-care services might be the major issue identified by participants. And while access emerged as a definite theme, participants frequently noted the state of health among young people and the lack of community infrastructure available to them.

A small amount of research is available on the health of young Canadians living in rural areas. It does suggest a prevalence of unhealthy behaviours and eating habits among rural youth, although it is worth noting that the extent to which these differ from urban youth seems minimal. For example, in a study of the dietary patterns of grade nine and ten students in Ontario (N=2,621), young people from both urban and rural districts were consuming inadequate amounts of fruits and vegetables, and were reporting levels of fibre and calcium intake that were below recommended amounts (Minaker et al. 2006). In a noncomparative survey of high school students in rural Alberta (N=288), the data on eating habits were mixed (Groft et al. 2005). While approximately 60 percent of respondents stated that they felt they ate healthy meals, 50 percent indicated that they also ate considerable amounts of "junk food" and 25 percent said they frequently skipped meals.

Regarding physical activity and body weight, Plotnikoff et al. (2006) compared high school students in urban Ontario to those in rural Alberta (N=2,697) and found no differences in self-evaluations of physical activity. Overall, 26 percent of rural and urban youth reported they were sedentary, 24 percent indicated they were somewhat active, and 50 percent indicated they were very active. This study did find that male rural youth were more likely to be overweight than their urban counterparts, while female rural youth were more likely to be obese than their urban counterparts.

The literature affirms research participants' observations regarding the use of alcohol, drugs, and tobacco among rural youth, although the extent to which this differs from the behaviours of urban youth is again unclear. Groft et al. (2005) found that half of their sample (144 youth) reported having used marijuana at least once, and 20 percent reported using drugs at least ten times in the year preceding the survey. Moreover, 27 percent indicated that they had been intoxicated at least ten times in the past year. A national study looking at the use of alcohol among urban and rural youth ages eleven to fifteen (N=7,031) found that youth who reported having been intoxicated at least once in their lifetime ranged from 28 percent to approximately 40 percent of respondents, depending on geographic location (Jiang et al. 2008). The lowest percentage was found among youth living in large urban centres, followed by youth in small urban centres (28.2 percent), medium-sized urban centres (32.9 percent), rural centres not adjacent to a CMA (census metropolitan area) and with a population less than 50,000 (33.6 percent) and, finally, rural centres adjacent to a CMA (33.9 percent). With regard to teen smoking, Plotnikoff et al. (2006) found that although more rural than urban youth had experimented with tobacco, no differences were found in the percentage of rural and urban youth who were currently smoking, and approximately onequarter of youth in the study were found to smoke.

Studies on the health of rural youth reviewed above do not disaggregate by Aboriginal identification; however, researchers located a small amount of research that focussed specifically on the health of Aboriginal youth. A health survey of on-reserve communities asked parents or guardians to report on the well-being on one child or adolescent living in their home (MacMillan et al. 2010). Eighty-four percent of caregivers reported that the health of the young person on whom they focussed was either excellent or very good. Ten percent of the youth aged twelve to eighteen were assessed as overweight, and 23 percent of young people in this same age group were considered to have experienced greater emotional or behavioural problems in the past six months than their peers.

Teen suicide is a problem that disproportionately affects Aboriginal youth. While the rate of teen suicide varies significantly among Aboriginal communities across the country, 31 percent of deaths among all Aboriginal youth aged ten to fourteen can be attributed to suicide, while for youth aged fifteen to nineteen, the amount is 25 percent (Health Canada 2011).

Researchers located only a handful of studies on the role of youth infrastructure in rural communities in Canada, and the role of this infrastructure in supporting health. An ethnographic study of a rural community in British Columbia found that young people felt that the lack of activities in their town helped explain why youth drink or get involved in risky sexual behaviour (Shoveller et al. 2007). However, Groft et al. (2005) found that only a small number of students in a rural high school (11 percent) perceived that a lack of facilities or equipment was a barrier to healthy living. The top three reasons these youth reported not focussing on their health was that they didn't feel it was important to do so (45 percent of respondents), they lacked time (29 percent), and they lacked motivation (28 percent). With regard to Aboriginal youth specifically, studies have found that having a supportive person in their lives significantly influenced their ability to withstand unhealthy behaviours and suicide. This person was defined as someone youth can confide in, a person to go to during a crisis situation or to talk through big decisions with, and an individual who "... makes [youth] feel loved and cared for" (Andersson and Ledogar 2008, n.p.). Not surprisingly, the behaviour of peers was also found to be associated with the likelihood that Aboriginal youth would engage in unhealthy behaviour. Young people were less likely to smoke or do drugs, for example, if their friends didn't either (Andersson and Ledogar 2008). Interestingly, in their study of a rural Alberta high school, Groft et al. (2005) also found that peers seemed important in health promotion and prevention. Forty-three percent of high school students felt that their school could support their health by facilitating the sharing of advice among students.

Research participants noted a second unexpected finding — discrimination toward Aboriginal people. This included the perceived unwillingness of health-care professionals to work in Aboriginal communities and the treatment of Aboriginal people by health-care workers and allied professionals. Participants noted further that the medical framework through which health care is delivered does not encompass Aboriginal cultures. And similar to the youth-related theme discussed above, these findings were unexpected because they were not discussed or anticipated by members of the DLPHT in their conversations with the research team about the project. It is noteworthy that this theme also emerged in 2009 consultations with Aboriginal people in the Saskatoon Health Region during the development of the Aboriginal Health Strategy (Strengthening the Circle Partnership 2010).

The cultural appropriateness of the Western medical system for Aboriginal people is certainly discussed in the literature. The Romanow Report noted the importance of making health-care services culturally relevant more than a decade ago (Romanow 2002), and targeted studies on health-care interventions have drawn similar conclusions. A study of mental health services in Mi'kmaq communities in Nova Scotia, for example, concluded that services needed to be made more culturally appropriate and that health-care workers who were not Aboriginal required training so that they would be more knowledgeable about, and sensitive to, local culture and history (Vukic et al. 2009). This study interviewed health-care providers, individuals with mental health issues, and family members of individuals with mental illness (N=53). Bartlett (2005) conducted in-depth interviews with Métis women (N=17) in order to conceptualize their understanding of health and well-being, and concluded that it is different from the bio-medical understanding of health typically used in the health-care system. Participants from rural areas aged twenty-five to forty-five, for example, spoke of well-being as encompassing emotional, physical, intellectual, and spiritual dimensions. They understood health as having a collective dimension. In other words, while it involved taking care of yourself through a nutritious diet and physical activity, it also involved responsibility for the health of others. Varcao et al. (2010) went a step further and explored a First Nation community's interest in incorporating Elders in an initiative to reduce smoking among pregnant women and the parents of young children. In individual and group interviews with stakeholders (N=66), they found a great willingness to involve Elders, also noting that participants felt Elders played a central role in helping youth. Finally, research has also found that Aboriginal people do wish to receive health-care services that are culturally appropriate. A national survey (N=1,209) of First Nations adults living on or near a reserve found that 80 percent of respondents indicated that this strategy would serve to improve Aboriginal health (National Aboriginal Health Organization 2003).

There was a third unexpected finding in this study — research participants acknowledged the positive initiatives and aspects of health in the community. The literature on rural health is overwhelmingly focussed on deficits — the lack of health-care services in rural areas and health disparities between rural and urban residents. While these are important areas of concern, the literature's strong focus on problems may have the same affect on rural communities as a deficit-based approach to community development, ignoring existing strengths and leading communities to look to and depend upon individuals and organizations outside themselves to solve their problems (Kretzmann and McKnight 1993). While participants in the current study noted specific health-related problems in the community related to population health, access, and programming, they also observed improvements, including better collaboration among service providers, new programs, and, importantly, grassroots initiatives — community gardens and the development of a youth centre.

CONCLUSIONS

THE PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY was to explore community health in Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation. Researchers conducted nineteen in-depth interviews with members of these communities, with questions focussing on perceptions of the health of the community, thoughts about, and experiences with, access to programs and services, and suggestions on how to improve community health. Interviews were transcribed and coded thematically.

The first major theme, perceptions of community health, included dimensions pertaining to specific problems such as obesity, mental illness and substance abuse, changing lifestyles in the communities, and poor parenting skills and the role of parents in promoting health. An additional dimension under this theme concerned youth, including the lack of infrastructure for this target group, and the specific health problems they face such as obesity, inactivity, substance abuse, and poor nutrition. The last two dimensions focussed on the legacy of residential schools and improvements in the health of the communities.

The second major theme related to barriers to access, with participants mentioning transportation problems and the cost of services. However, participants were also aware of a number of services currently available in the communities, including dental, nutrition, and nursing services offered at clinics, as well as counselling and a nurse practitioner located at the local school. Shortcomings with current service delivery included limited physician hours, a lack of information regarding what services are available and for whom, lack of awareness among health-care workers outside of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation regarding what is available to local residents, and inadequate elder care. Finally, participants spoke of access to community activities, and emphasized a lack of infrastructure and programming for youth.

The third major theme in this study related to discrimination, including the experiences of Aboriginal people with discrimination in the health-care system, the legacy of the residential school system, specific health-related problems of the Aboriginal population in the community, and the potential role of Elders in building community health.

It is up to members of the DLPHT and people in the wider communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis to determine what actions to take in response to the findings presented in this report. However, the DLPHT could consider the following items as next steps in building and supporting community health in Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation.

First, given the emphasis on the health of youth and the lack of infrastructure for this target group, the DLPHT may want to support the development of the community's youth centre. This could include providing or helping to locate funding for the centre through the health region or province. The funding could be used to purchase exercise equipment or to help pay for a youth worker. Because the transcripts suggest that simply having a place for youth to go would support health in the community, this funding could also be used to support the centre in other ways, such as making improvements to the space.

Second, the DLPHT may want to consider offering more health-related programming in the local school. They may want to use a participatory approach, such as that used by Groft et al. (2005), so that youth and other key stakeholders in the community such as teachers and Elders can help establish what kind of programming to offer.

Third, with regard to Aboriginal health, the DLPHT could consider training for healthcare workers in the following areas:

- Aboriginal cultures
- non-Western approaches to medicine
- Aboriginal history
- racism
- the social determinants of health

Cross-cultural training was also recommended in the 2010 Strengthening the Circle report on improving the health of Aboriginal people receiving services in the Saskatoon Health Region; this means that the DLPHT need not establish training independently. If this initiative to improve Aboriginal health has not yet started, however, the DLPHT could consider becoming vocal in requesting that the training begin.

It is difficult to make recommendations regarding access to services given the financial constraints of the health region and the federal government, as well as the trend toward regional health services. One low-cost recommendation is to better promote the programs and services currently available in Duck Lake, Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation, and the surrounding communities, since some research participants spoke of not knowing what services were available and for whom. Local officials could improve access to services by increasing the availability of transportation to and from medical appointments; they could increase the hours during which a physician is available locally; and they could co-ordinate visits by specialists, such as speech therapists and mental health workers.

Finally, future research and action related to the health of the communities could focus on strengths, building on the positive elements of health-care delivery in Duke Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation. This fits with best practices in community development; it is also in keeping with what participants in this research noted is working well in the communities and with the perspective of the DLPHT. As we were told when this project began, "Despite some of the struggles, this community is very resilient. There [is] an overriding hope that things can improve." (DLPHT 2009, 1)

APPENDIX 1: THEMES

Perceptions of Health in Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation

Health Problems

- Obesity
- Substance abuse
- Mental health

Changing Lifestyles

Parenting Skills and the Role of Parents in Promoting Health

Youth

- Lack of infrastructure
- Unhealthy behaviours

Residential Schools Legacy

Improvements in Community Health

Access to Health-Care Services

• Transportation

Access

- Cost of service
- Limitations in service delivery
- Suggestions for improvement

Access to Community Activities

- Activities for youth
- Activities for the population in general

Aboriginal Health

Discrimination

Health Problems

The Role of Elders in the Community

References

- Adelson, N. 2005. "The Embodiment of Inequity: Health Disparities in Aboriginal Canada." *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 96, suppl. 2 (March/April): S45–61.
- Andersson, N., and Robert J. Ledogar. 2008. "The CIET Aboriginal Youth Resilience Studies: 14 Years of Capacity Building and Methods Development in Canada." *Pimatisiwin* 6, no. 2 (Summer): 65–88.
- Bartlett, Judith. 2005. "Health and Well-Being for Métis Women in Manitoba." *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 96, no. 1, suppl. 1 (January/February): S22–27.
- Duck Lake Primary Health Team. 2009. "Letter of Intent to the Community-University Institute for Social Research, University of Saskatchewan."
- Frohlich, K.L., N. Ross, and C. Richmond. 2006. "Health Disparities in Canada Today: Some Evidence and Theoretical Framework." *Health Policy* 79, nos. 2–3 (December): 132–43.
- Graham, H., and L. Leeseberg Stamler. 2010. "Contemporary Perceptions of Health from an Indigenous (Plains Cree) Perspective." *Journal of Aboriginal Health* 6, no. 1 (January): 6–17.
- Groft, J.N., B. Hagen, N.K. Miller, N. Cooper, and S. Brown. 2005. "Adolescent Health: A Rural Community's Approach." *Rural and Remote Health* 5, no. 2 (April–June): 366–81.
- Halseth, Greg, and Laura Ryser. 2006. "Trends in Service Delivery: Examples from Rural and Small Town Canada, 1998 to 2005." *Journal of Rural and Community Development* 1, no. 2: 69–90.
- Health Canada. 2011. "A Statistical Profile on the Health of First Nations in Canada: Vital Statistics for Atlantic and Western Canada, 2001/2002." Ottawa: Health Canada.
- Health Council of Canada. 2005. "The Health Status of Canada's First Nations, Metis and Inuit Peoples." A background paper to accompany "Health Care Renewal in Canada: Accelerating Change." Retrieved 9 January 2012 from http://healthcouncilcanada.ca/rpt_det.php?id=125.

- Jiang, Xuran, Dongguang Li, William Boyce, and William Pickett. 2008. "Alcohol Consumption and Injury among Canadian Adolescents: Variations by Urban–Rural Geographic Status." *Journal of Rural Health* 24, no. 2: 143–47.
- Kretzmann, John P., and John L. McKnight. 1993. Building Communities from the Inside Out: A Path toward Finding and Mobilizing a Community's Assets. Evanston, IL: Institute for Policy Research.
- Laurent, S. 2002. "Rural Canada: Access to Health Care." Retrieved 10 January 2012 from http://publications.gc.ca/Collection-R/LoPBdP/BP/prb0245e-3.htm.
- Luo, Z.C., W.J. Kierans, R. Wilkins, R.M. Liston, S.H. Uh, and M.S. Kramer. 2004. "Infant Mortality among First Nations versus Non-First Nations in British Columbia: Temporal Trends in Rural versus Urban Areas, 1981–2000." *International Journal of Epidemiology* 33, no. 6 (December): 1252–59.
- Luo, Z.C., M. Heaman, R. Wilkins, J. Smylie, P. Martens, and W. Fraser. 2007. Community Report: Community Characteristics and Birth Outcomes among First Nations and non-First Nations in Manitoba, 1991–2000. Winnipeg: Health Information and Research Governance Committee.
- MacMillan, Harriet, Ellen Jamieson, Christine Walsh, Michael Boyle, Allison Crawford, and Angus MacMillan. 2010. "The Health of Canada's Aboriginal Children: Results from the First Nations and Inuit Regional Health Survey." *International Journal of Circumpolar Health* 69, no. 2: 158–67.
- Minaker, Leia M., Linda McCargar, Irene Lambraki, Linda Jessup, Pete Driezen, Kate Calengor, and Rhona M. Hanning. 2006. "School Region Socio-economic Status and Geographic Locale Is Associated with Food Behaviour of Ontario and Alberta Adolescents." *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 97, no. 5: 357–61.
- Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health. 2002. "Rural Health in Rural Hands: Strategic Directions for Rural, Remote, Northern and Aboriginal Communities" Ottawa: Ministerial Advisory Council on Rural Health, Health Canada. Retrieved 12 January 2012 from http://www.cranhr.ca/pdf/rural_hands.pdf.
- National Aboriginal Health Organization (NAHO). 2003. *What First Nations People Think about Their Health and Health Care.* National Aboriginal Health Organization's Public Opinion Poll on Aboriginal Health and Health Care in Canada. Summary of Findings. Ottawa: First Nations Centre, National Aboriginal Health Organization.

—. 2004. First Nations and Inuit Regional Health Surveys, 1997: A Synthesis of the National and Regional Reports. Ottawa: First Nations Centre, National Aboriginal Health Organization.

Plotnikoff, Ronald, Kim Bercovitz, and Constantinos Loucaides. 2004. "Physical Activity, Smoking, and Obesity among Canadian School Youth: Comparison between Urban and Rural Schools." *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 95, no. 6: 413–18.

Ramsey, Doug, and Kenneth Beesley. 2006. "Rural Community Well-being: The Perspec-

tives of Health Care Managers in Southwestern Manitoba, Canada." *Journal of Rural and Community Development* 2: 86–107.

- Reading, Charlotte Loppie, and Fred Wien. 2009. "Health Inequalities and Social Determinants of Aboriginal People's Health." Prince George, B.C.: National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. Retrieved 12 February 2012 from http://www.nccahccnsa.ca/docs/social%20determinates/NCCAH-Loppie-Wien_Report.pdf.
- Robson, Colin. 2011. *Real World Research*. 3rd ed. West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Romanow, Roy J. 2002. *Building on Values: The Future of Health Care in Canada*. Ottawa: Privy Council.
- Shoveller, Jean, Joy Johnson, Ken Prkachin, and David Patrick. 2007. "'Around here, they roll up the sidewalks at night": A Qualitative Study of Youth Living in a Rural Canadian Community." *Health & Place* 13, no. 4 (December): 826–38.
- Skinner, Mark W., Mark W. Rosenberg, Sarah A. Lovell, James R. Dunn, John C. Everitt, Neil Hanlon, and Thomas Rathwell. 2008. "Services for Seniors in Small-Town Canada: The Paradox of Community." *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research* 40, no. 1 (March): 80–101.
- Statistics Canada. 2006. "Aboriginal Peoples." Retrieved 13 January 2012 from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/hlt/97-558/pages/page.cfm? Lang=E&Geo=CMA&Code=47&Table=1&Data=Count&Sex=1&Age=1&StartRec=1&Sort =2&Display=Page&CSDFilter=5000
- Statistics Canada. 2007. "Beardy's 97 and Okemasis 96, Saskatchewan" (Code 4715845) (table). "2006 Community Profiles." 2006 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92–591–XWE. Ottawa. Released 13 March 2007. Retrieved 4 May 2012 from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/prof/92-591/index.cfm?Lang=E.

2007. "Duck Lake No. 463, Saskatchewan" (Code 4715061) (table). "2006
 Community Profiles." 2006 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92–591–XWE.
 Ottawa. Released 13 March 2007. Retrieved 5 April 2012 from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/prof/92-591/index.cfm?Lang=E.

Statistics Canada. 2012. "Beardy's 97 and Okemasis 96, Saskatchewan" (Code 4715845) and "Division No. 15, Saskatchewan" (Code 4715) (table). "Census Profile". 2011 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98–316–XWE. Ottawa. Released 8 February 2012. Retrieved 4 May 2012 from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2011/dppd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E.

—. 2012. "Duck Lake No. 463, Saskatchewan" (Code 4715061) and "Division No. 15, Saskatchewan" (Code 4715) (table). "Census Profile". 2011 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98–316–XWE. Ottawa. Released 8 February 2012. Retrieved 4 May 2012 from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2011/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E.

Strengthening the Circle Partnership. 2010. "Strengthening the Circle: Partnering for

Improved Health for Aboriginal People." Saskatoon. Retrieved 9 May 2012 from http://www.saskatoonhealthregion.ca/about_us/documents/STC-Aboriginal-Health-Strategy-summary.pdf.

- Varcoe, Colleen, Joan L. Bottorff, Joanne Carey, Debbie Sullivan, and Wanda Williams. 2010. "Wisdom and Influence of Elders: Possibilities for Health Promotion and Decreasing Tobacco Exposure in First Nations Communities." *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 101, no. 2: 154–59.
- Vukic, Adele, Sharon Rudderham, and Ruth Martin Misener. 2009. "A Community Partnership to Explore Mental Health Services in First Nations Communities in Nova Scotia." *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 100, no. 6: 432–36.
- Wong, S.T., and S. Regan. 2009. "Patient perspectives on primary health care in rural communities: effects of geography on access, continuity and efficiency." *Rural and Remote Health* 9, no. 1 (January–March): 1142–55.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES

Occasional Papers Series

(Occasional papers are 8 1/2 x 11 format)

2011	<i>Models for Effective Credit Union Governance: Maintaining Community Connections following a Merger.</i> Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (82pp. \$15)
2011	<i>The Impact of Retail Co-operative Amalgamations in Western Canada</i> . Lou Hammond Ketilson, Roger Herman, and Dwayne Pattison (100pp. \$15)
2009	<i>Financing Aboriginal Enterprise Development: The Potential of Using Co-operative Models.</i> Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (104pp. \$15)
2008	The Agriculture of the Middle Initiative: Premobilizing Considerations and Formal Co-operative Structure. Thomas W. Gray (54pp. \$12)
2007	Social Cohesion through Market Democratization: Alleviating Legitimation Deficits through Co-operation. Rob Dobrohoczki (68pp. \$10)
2006	Data Collection in the Co-operative Sector and Other Business Statistics in Canada and the United States. Angela Wagner and Cristine de Clercy (224pp. \$25)
2006	<i>The Case of the Saint-Camille Care and Services Solidarity Co-operative and Its Impact on Social Cohesion.</i> Geneviève Langlois, with the collaboration of Patrick De Bortoli and under the guidance of Jean-Pierre Girard and Benoît Lévesque (96pp. \$10)
2005	<i>"Canada's Co-operative Province": Individualism and Mutualism in a Settler Society, 1905–2005.</i> Brett Fairbairn (76pp. \$10)
2004	<i>Negotiating Synergies: A Study in Multiparty Conflict Resolution.</i> Marj Benson (408pp. \$35)
2003	<i>Co-operatives and Farmers in the New Agriculture.</i> Murray Fulton and Kim Sanderson (60pp. \$10)

- 2002 Conflict, Co-operation, and Culture: A Study in Multiparty Negotiations. Marj Benson (242pp. \$25)
- 2002 *Adult Educators in Co-operative Development: Agents of Change.* Brenda Stefanson (102pp. \$12)
- 2001 "An Educational Institute of Untold Value": The Evolution of the Co-operative College of Canada, 1953–1987. Jodi Crewe (66pp. \$10)
- 1999 *The Components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet.* Byron Henderson (78pp. \$12)
- 1998 Co-operative Organization in Rural Canada and the Agricultural Co-operative Movement in China: A Comparison. Zhu Shufang and Leonard P. Apedaile (56pp. \$10)
- 1996 *Comparative Financial Performance Analysis of Canadian Co-operatives, Investor-Owned Firms, and Industry Norms.* Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (152pp. \$12)
- 1994 Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires: Background, Market Characteristics, and Future Development. J.T. Zinger (26pp. \$6)
- 1994 *The Meaning of Rochdale: The Rochdale Pioneers and the Co-operative Principles.* Brett Fairbairn (62pp. \$10)
- 1993 The Co-operative Movement: An International View. S.K. Saxena (20pp. \$6)
- 1992 *Co-operatives in Principle and Practice.* Anne McGillivray and Daniel Ish (144pp. \$10)
- 1992 Matador: The Co-operative Farming Tradition. George Melnyk (26pp. \$6)
- 1992 *Co-operative Development: Towards a Social Movement Perspective.* Patrick Develtere (114pp. \$15)
- 1991 *The Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: A Statistical Overview.* Louise Simbandumwe, Murray Fulton, and Lou Hammond Ketilson (54pp. \$6)
- 1991 Farmers, Capital, and the State in Germany, c 1860–1914. Brett Fairbairn (36pp. \$6)
- 1990 *Community-Based Models of Health Care: A Bibliography.* Lou Hammond Ketilson and Michael Quennell (66pp. \$8)
- 1989 *Patronage Allocation, Growth, and Member Well-Being in Co-operatives.* Jeff Corman and Murray Fulton (48pp. \$8)
- 1989 The Future of Worker Co-operatives in Hostile Environments: Some Reflections from Down Under. Allan Halladay and Colin Peile (94pp. \$6)
- 1988 Worker Co-operatives and Worker Ownership: Issues Affecting the Development of Worker Co-operatives in Canada. Christopher Axworthy and David Perry (100pp. \$10)
- 1988 *A History of Saskatchewan Co-operative Law 1900 to 1960.* Donald Mullord, Christopher Axworthy, and David Liston (66pp. \$8)
- 1988 Co-operative Organizations in Western Canada. Murray Fulton (40pp. \$7)

- 1988 *Farm Interest Groups and Canadian Agricultural Policy.* Barry Wilson, David Laycock, and Murray Fulton (42pp. \$8)
- 1987 Election of Directors in Saskatchewan Co-operatives: Processes and Results. Lars Apland (72pp. \$6)
- 1987 *The Property of the Common: Justifying Co-operative Activity.* Finn Aage Ekelund (74pp. \$6)
- 1987 Co-operative/Government Relations in Canada: Lobbying, Public Policy Development and the Changing Co-operative System. David Laycock (246pp. \$10)
- 1987 *The Management of Co-operatives: A Bibliography.* Lou Hammond Ketilson, Bonnie Korthuis, and Colin Boyd (144pp. \$10)
- 1987 Labour Relations in Co-operatives. Kurt Wetzel and Daniel G. Gallagher (30pp. \$6)
- 1987 Worker Co-operatives: An International Bibliography/ Coopératives de Travailleurs: Une Bibliographie Internationale. Rolland LeBrasseur, Alain Bridault, David Gallingham, Gérard Lafrenière, and Terence Zinger (76pp. \$6)
- 1986 *Co-operatives and Their Employees: Towards a Harmonious Relationship.* Christopher Axworthy (82pp. \$6)
- 1986 *Co-operatives and Social Democracy: Elements of the Norwegian Case.* Finn Aage Ekelund (42pp. \$6)
- 1986 *Encouraging Democracy in Consumer and Producer Co-operatives.* Stuart Bailey (124pp. \$10)
- 1986 A New Model for Producer Co-operatives in Israel. Abraham Daniel (54pp. \$6)
- 1985 *Worker Co-operatives in Mondragon, the U.K., and France: Some Reflections.* Christopher Axworthy (48pp. \$10)
- 1985 Employment Co-operatives: An Investment in Innovation: Proceedings of the Saskatoon Worker Co-operative Conference. Skip McCarthy, ed. (288pp. \$23)
- 1985 Prairie Populists and the Idea of Co-operation, 1910–1945. David Laycock (48pp. \$6)

Books, Research Reports, and Other Publications

Note: Research reports are available without charge on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre.

- 2012 Individualized Funding: A Framework for Effective Implementation. Marsha Dozar, Don Gallant, Judy Hannah, Emily Hurd, Jason Newberry, Ken Pike, and Brian Salisbury (8 1/2 x 11, 25pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Mapping Social Capital in a Network of Community Development Organizations: The South West Centre for Entrepreneurial Development Organizational Network. Jason Heit (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)

- 2012 Participatory Action Research: Challenges, Complications, and Opportunities. Patricia
 W. Elliott (8 1/2 x 11, 54pp., Research Report)
- 2012 *Community-Based Regional Food Distribution Initiatives.* Colin Anderson and Stéphane McLachlan (8 1/2 x 11, 12pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *Sharing My Life: Building the Co-operative Movement.* Harold Chapman (6 x 9, 208 pp., \$25)
- 2011 *A Co-operative Dilemma: Converting Organizational Form*. Edited by Jorge Sousa and Roger Herman (6 x 9, 324 pp., \$25)
- 2011 *"A Place to Learn, Work, and Heal": An Evaluation of Crocus Co-operative.* Julia Bidonde and Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp., Research Report)
- 2011 An Economic Analysis of Microcredit Lending. Haotao Wu (8 1/2 x 11, 208pp., PhD Dissertation/Research Report)
- 2011 Empowerment through Co-operation: Disability Inclusion via Multistakeholder Co-operative Development. Kama Soles (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2011 *Economic Impact of Credit Unions on Rural Communities.* Fortunate Mavenga (8 1/2 x 11, 133pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2011 Building a Federal Policy Framework and Program in Support of Community Economic Development. Kirsten Bernas and Brendan Reimer (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Engaging Youth in Community Futures: The Rural Youth Research Internship Project. David Thompson and Ashleigh Sauvé (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Understanding and Promoting Effective Partnerships for CED: A Case Study of SEED Winnipeg's Partnerships. Gaelene Askeland and Kirit Patel (8 1/2 x 11, 43pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *The Management of Co-operatives: Developing a Postsecondary Course.* Leezann Freed-Lobchuk, Vera Goussaert, Michael Benarroch, and Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 37pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *Co-operative Marketing Options for Organic Agriculture.* Jason Heit and Michael Gertler (8 1/2 x 11, 136pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *Mining and the Social Economy in Baker Lake, Nunavut.* Warren Bernauer (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Enhancing and Linking Ethnocultural Organizations and Communities in Rural Manitoba: A Focus on Brandon and Steinbach. Jill Bucklaschuk and Monika Sormova (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *Community Resilience, Adaptation, and Innovation: The Case of the Social Economy in La Ronge.* Kimberly Brown, Isobel M. Findlay, and Rob Dobrohoczki (8 1/2 x 11, 73pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Municipal Government Support of the Social Economy Sector. Jenny Kain, Emma

Sharkey, and Robyn Webb (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report, co-published with the BC-Alberta Social Economy Research Alliance)

- 2010 *Portrait of Community Resilience of Sault Ste Marie.* Jude Ortiz and Linda Savory-Gordon (8 1/2 x 11, 80pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Community-Based Planning: Engagement, Collaboration, and Meaningful Participation in the Creation of Neighbourhood Plans. Karin Kliewer ((8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Building Community: Creating Social and Economic Well-Being: A Conference Reflecting on Co-operative Strategies and Experiences. Conference report prepared by Mark McCulloch (8 1/2 x 11, 60pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2010 *Eat Where You Live: Building a Social Economy of Local Food in Western Canada.* Joel Novek and Cara Nichols (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)
- 2010 *Cypress Hills Ability Centres Inc.: Exploring Alternatives*. Maria Basualdo and Chipo Kangayi (8 1/2 x 11, 76pp., Research Report)
- 2010 *Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding*. Nicola S. Chopin and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 122pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Adult Education and the Social Economy: The Communitarian Pedagogy of Watson Thomson. Michael Chartier (8 1/2 x 11, 114pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2010 Self-Determination in Action: The Entrepreneurship of the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative. Dwayne Pattison and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Walking Backwards into the Future. George Melnyk (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2009 South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence. Isobel M. Findlay, Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry (8 1/2 x 11, 46pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Enabling Policy Environments for Co-operative Development: A Comparative Experience. Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- 2009 *Culture, Creativity, and the Arts: Achieving Community Resilience and Sustainability through the Arts in Sault Ste. Marie.* Jude Ortiz and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 133pp., Research Report)
- 2009 *The Role of Co-operatives in Health Care: National and International Perspectives.* Report of an International Health Care Conference held in Saskatoon 28 October 2008. Prepared by Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2009 The Importance of Policy for Community Economic Development: A Case Study of the Manitoba Context. Brendan Reimer, Dan Simpson, Jesse Hajer, John Loxley (8 1/2 x 11, 47pp., Research Report)

- 2009 *Northern Ontario Women's Economic Development Conference Report.* PARO Centre for Women's Enterprise (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy.* Cara Spence and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database*. Karen Lynch, Cara Spence, and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 22pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Social Enterprises and the Ontario Disability Support Program: A Policy Perspective on Employing Persons with Disabilities. Gayle Broad and Madison Saunders (8 1/2 x 11, 41pp., Research Report)
- 2008 A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities. Karen Lynch and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Community Supported Agriculture: Putting the "Culture" Back into Agriculture.* Miranda Mayhew, Cecilia Fernandez, and Lee-Ann Chevrette (8 1/2 x 11, 10pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Algoma Central Railway: Wilderness Tourism by Rail Opportunity Study. Prepared by Malone Given Parsons Ltd. for the Coalition for Algoma Passenger Trains (8 1/2 x 11, 82pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Recovery of the Collective Memory and Projection into the Future: ASOPRICOR.* Jose Reyes, Janeth Valero, and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Measuring and Mapping the Impact of Social Economy Enterprises: The Role of Co-ops in Community Population Growth. Chipo Kangayi, Rose Olfert, and Mark Partridge (8 1/2 x 11, 42pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Financing Social Enterprise: An Enterprise Perspective.* Wanda Wuttunee, Martin Chicilo, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: A Scan of Financing Providers in the Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Northwestern Ontario Region. Wanda Wuttunee, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 39pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Government Policies towards Community Economic Development and the Social Economy in Quebec and Manitoba. John Loxley and Dan Simpson (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods*. Mitch Diamantopoulos and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Between Solidarity and Profit: The Agricultural Transformation Societies in Spain (1940–2000). Cándido Román Cervantes (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership: Issues and Challenges. Bill Turner (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Innovations in Co-operative Marketing and Communications*. Leslie Brown (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)

- 2006 *Cognitive Processes and Co-operative Business Strategy.* Murray Fulton and Julie Gibbings (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Heritage: Where We've Come From. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 18pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Co-operative Membership as a Complex and Dynamic Social Process.* Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 28pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cohesion, Adhesion, and Identities in Co-operatives. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Revisiting the Role of Co-operative Values and Principles: Do They Act to Include or Exclude?* Lou Hammond Ketilson (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Social Responsibility: A Natural Advantage? Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Globalization and Co-operatives.* William Coleman (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Leadership and Representational Diversity.* Cristine de Clercy (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2006 Synergy and Strategic Advantage: Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Communities under Pressure: The Role of Co-operatives and the Social Economy,* synthesis report of a conference held in Ottawa, March 2006, sponsored by the Centre; PRI, Government of Canada; SSHRC; Human Resources and Social Development Canada; and the Co-operatives Secretariat (English and French, 8 1/2 x 11, 14pp., free)
- 2006 *Farmers' Association Training Materials* (part of the China-Canada Agriculture Development Program prepared for Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and the Canadian International Development Agency). Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 134pp., available on our website)
- 2006 International Seminar on Legislation for Farmer Co-operatives in China: A Canadian Perspective. Daniel Ish, Bill Turner, and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 22pp., available on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre)
- 2006 Networking Diversity: Including Women and Other Under-Represented Groups in Co-operatives. Myfanwy Van Vliet (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., Research Report)
- 2004 *Living the Dream: Membership and Marketing in the Co-operative Retailing System.* Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 288pp. \$20)
- 2004 Building a Dream: The Co-operative Retailing System in Western Canada, 1928–1988 (reprint). Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 352pp. \$20)
- 2004 Cohesion, Consumerism, and Co-operatives: Looking ahead for the Co-operative Retailing System. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2004 *Co-operative Membership and Globalization: New Directions in Research and Practice.* Brett Fairbairn and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 320pp. \$20)
- 2003 Beyond Beef and Barley: Organizational Innovation and Social Factors in Farm

Diversification and Sustainability. Michael Gertler, JoAnn Jaffe, and Lenore Swystun (8 1/2 x 11, 118pp., Research Report, \$12)

- 2003 *The Role of Social Cohesion in the Adoption of Innovation and Selection of Organizational Form.* Roger Herman (8 1/2 x 11, 58pp., Research Report)
- 2003 Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 38pp. \$5)
- 2003 The Role of Farmers in the Future Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2003 Is It the End of Utopia? The Israeli Kibbutz at the Twenty-First Century. Uriel Leviatan (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2003 Up a Creek with a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom. Ann Hoyt (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2002 A Report on Aboriginal Co-operatives in Canada: Current Situation and Potential for Growth. L. Hammond Ketilson and I. MacPherson (8 1/2 x 11, 400pp. \$35)
- 2001 Against All Odds: Explaining the Exporting Success of the Danish Pork Co-operatives. Jill Hobbs (6 x 9, 40pp. \$5)
- 2001 Rural Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2001 NGCs: Resource Materials for Business Development Professionals and Agricultural Producers. (binder, 8 1/2 x 11, 104pp. \$17)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operative Development in Canada. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operatives: Key Steps in the Issuance of Securities / The Secondary Trade. Brenda Stefanson, Ian McIntosh, Dean Murrison (6 x 9, 34pp. \$5)
- 2001 *New Generation Co-operatives and the Law in Saskatchewan.* Chad Haaf and Brenda Stefanson (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2001 An Economic Impact Analysis of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: Update 1998. Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp. available on our website in downloadable pdf format as well as on loan from our Resource Centre)
- Co-operative Development and the State: Case Studies and Analysis. Two volumes. Vol. I, pt. 1: Summary, Observations, and Conclusions about Co-operative Development; vol. I, pt. 2: Issues in Co-operative Development and Co-operative–State Relations, Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 66pp. \$8); vol. II, pt. 3: Co-operative Development and Sector–State Relations in the U.S.A., Brett Fairbairn and Laureen Gatin; vol. II, pt. 4: A Study of Co-operative Development and Government–Sector Relations in Australia, Garry Cronan and Jayo Wickremarachchi (6 x 9, 230pp. \$12)
- 2000 *Interdisciplinarity and the Transformation of the University.* Brett Fairbairn and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 The CUMA Farm Machinery Co-operatives. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 46pp. \$5)

- 2000 *Farm Machinery Co-operatives in Saskatchewan and Québec.* Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2000 *Farm Machinery Co-operatives: An Idea Worth Sharing.* Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 *Canadian Co-operatives in the Year 2000: Memory, Mutual Aid, and the Millennium.* Brett Fairbairn, Ian MacPherson, and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 356pp. \$22)
- 1999 *Networking for Success: Strategic Alliances in the New Agriculture.* Mona Holmlund and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 1999 Prairie Connections and Reflections: The History, Present, and Future of Co-operative Education. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 1999 *The SANASA Model: Co-operative Development through Micro-Finance.* Ingrid Fischer, Lloyd Hardy, Daniel Ish, and Ian MacPherson (6 x 9, 80pp. \$10)
- 1999 *A Car-Sharing Co-operative in Winnipeg: Recommendations and Alternatives.* David Leland (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 1998 Working Together: The Role of External Agents in the Development of Agriculture-Based Industries. Andrea Harris, Murray Fulton, Brenda Stefanson, and Don Lysyshyn (8 1/2 x 11, 184pp. \$12)
- 1998 *The Social and Economic Importance of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan.* Lou Hammond Ketilson, Michael Gertler, Murray Fulton, Roy Dobson, and Leslie Polsom (8 1/2 x 11, 244 pp. free)
- 1998 Proceedings of the Women in Co-operatives Forum, 7–8 November 1997, Moose Jaw, SK (8 1/2 x 11, 112pp. \$12)
- 1997 A Discussion Paper on Canadian Wheat Board Governance. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Balancing Act: Crown Corporations in a Successful Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *A Conversation about Community Development.* Centre for the Study of Cooperatives (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *Credit Unions and Community Economic Development.* Brett Fairbairn, Lou Hammond Ketilson, and Peter Krebs (6 x 9, 32pp. \$5)
- 1997 New Generation Co-operatives: Responding to Changes in Agriculture. Brenda Stefanson and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1996 *Legal Responsibilities of Directors and Officers in Canadian Co-operatives.* Daniel Ish and Kathleen Ring (6 x 9, 148pp. \$15)
- 1995 *Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives.* The International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (5 1/2 x 8 1/2, 356pp. \$22)

- 1995 *New Generation Co-operatives: Rebuilding Rural Economies.* Brenda Stefanson, Murray Fulton, and Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 1994 *Research for Action: Women in Co-operatives.* Leona Theis and Lou Hammond Ketilson (8 1/2 x 11, 98pp. \$12)

To order from the list on pages 31–40, please contact Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 196 Diefenbaker Building University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, SK, S7N 5B8 Phone: (306) 966–8509 Fax: (306) 966–8517 Email: coop.studies@usask.ca Website: www.usaskstudies.coop

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS COMMUNITY-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH

- Achieving a Healthy, Sustainable Community: Quality of Life in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. Research Summary (2001).
- Allan, Nancy, and Michael Gertler. 2006. *Remaking the Links: Fair Trade for Local and Global Community Development*.
- Amankwah, Dinah. 2003. Integrative Wraparound (IWRAP) Process Training.
- Avis, Kyla, and Angela Bowen. 2004. Postpartum Depression Support Program Evaluation.
- Banks, Christopher. 2004. The Co\$t of Homophobia: Literature Review on the Economic Impact of Homophobia on Canada.
 - ——. 2003. The Cost of Homophobia: Literature Review on the Human Impact of Homophobia on Canada.
- Berntson, Ron. 2003. Peer Victimization Experiences in High School.
- Bidonde, Julia. 2006. *Experiencing the Saskatoon YWCA Crisis Shelter: Residents' Views*. Please contact Clara Bayliss at the YWCA at 244–7034, ext. 121 or at info@ywcasaskatoon.com for copies of this report.
- Bowen, Angela. 2004. *Healthy Mother Healthy Baby: Program Logic Model and Evaluability Assessment*.
- Bowditch, Joanne. 2003. Inventory of Hunger Programs in Saskatoon.
- "Building a Caring Community." Briefing Paper for Quality of Life Public Policy Forum (20 October 2001), Saskatoon Centennial Auditorium.
- "Building a Caring Community Together." Quality of Life Briefing Paper (May 2005).
- Building a Caring Community Together: A Collaborative Poverty Elimination Strategy. November 2006.

- Building Community Together: CUISR Present and Future. 2004.
- Chopin, Nicola S., and Isobel M. Findlay. 2010. *Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding: A Research Report*.
- Chopin, Nicola, Bill Holden, Nazeem Muhajarine, and James Popham. 2011. 2010 Quality of Life Research Summary.

Community-University Institute for Social Research: Partnering to Build Capacity and Connections in the Community. 2005.

- Daniel, Ben. 2006. *Evaluation of the YWCA Emergency Crisis Shelter: Staff and Stakeholder Perspectives*. Please contact Clara Bayliss at the YWCA at 244–7034, ext. 121 or at info@ ywcasaskatoon.com for copies of this report.
- Diamantopolous, Mitch, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods.
- Drechsler, Coralee. 2003. Influencing Poverty Reduction Policy through Research Evidence: Immigrant Women's Experience in Saskatoon.
- Dressler, Mary Pat. 2004. Aboriginal Women Share Their Stories in an Outreach Diabetes Education Program.
- Dunning, Heather. 2004. A Mixed Method Approach to Quality of Life in Saskatoon.
- Dyck, Carmen. 2004. "Off Welfare ... Now What?" A Literature Review on the Impact of Provincial Welfare to Work Training Programs in Saskatchewan.

_____. 2005. "Off Welfare ... Now What?" Phase II, Part 2: Analysis.

- Engler-Stringer, Rachel. 2006. *Collective Kitchens in Three Canadian Cities: Impacts on the Lives of Participants*.
- Engler-Stringer, Rachel, and Justin Harder. 2010. *Towards Implementation of the Saskatoon Food Charter.*
- Evitts, Trina, Nazeem Muhajarine, and Debbie Pushor. 2005. Full-Time Kindergarten in Battlefords School Division #118 Community Schools.
- Fernandes, Neville. 2003. Saskatchewan's Regional Economic Development Authorities: A Background Document.
- Fillingham, Jennifer. 2006. SEN-CUISR Environmental Charitable Organization Feasibility Study, Phase Two.
- Findlay, Isobel M., Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry. 2009. South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disabilitiy: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence

Gauley, Marg. 2006. Evaluation of Respectful Conflict Resolution and Peer Mediation Program.

Gold, Jenny. 2004. Profile of an Inter-Sectoral Issue: Children Not in School.

- Grosso, Paula. 2003. Uprooting Poverty and Planting Seeds for Social Change: The Roots of Poverty Project.
- Grosso, Paula, and Jodi Crewe. 2004. Project Greenhorn: Community Gardening.
- Harlingten, Leora. 2004. Saskatoon Charging and Disposition Patterns Under Section 213 of the Criminal Code of Canada.
- Henry, Carol J., Carol Vandale, Susan Whiting, Flo Woods, Shawna Berenbaum, and Adrian Blunt. 2006. *Breakfast/Snack Programs in Saskatchewan Elementary Schools: Evaluating Benefits, Barriers, and Essential Skills.*
- Jackson, Maureen. 2004. Closer to Home: Child and Family Poverty in Saskatoon.
- Janzen, Bonnie. 2003. An Evaluation of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Quality of Life Reporting System.
- Jonker, Peter, Colleen Whitedeer, and Diane McDonald. 2005. Building Capacity of Fond du Lac Entrepreneurs to Establish and Operate Local Tourism Business: Assessment and Proposed Training.
- Kelsey, Melissa V. 2004. Determining Saskatoon's Value Profile.
- Klymyshyn, Sherry, and Lee Everts. 2007. *Evaluation of Saskatoon Community Clinic Group Program for "At Risk" Elderly*.
- Kynoch, Bev. 2003. The Brightwater Environmental and Science Project: Respecting Traditional Ecological Knowledge — The Soul of a Tribal People.
- Li, Song. 2004. Direct Care Personnel Recruitment, Retention and Orientation.
- Lisoway, Amanda. 2004. 211 Saskatchewan Situational Analysis.
- Lynch, Karen, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities — A Research Report.
- Lynch, Karen, Cara Spence, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database: A Research Report.
- MacDermott, Wendy. 2005. Youth ... on the Brink of Success: Youth Addictions Project. Final report is also available from Communities for Children, contact Sydney Bell at sydney-bell@communitiesforchildren.net

——. 2004. Evaluation of the Activities of the Working Group to Stop the Sexual Exploitation of Children.

- ——. 2004. Common Functional Assessment and Disability-Related Agencies and Departments in Saskatoon.
- ——. 2003. Child Poverty in Canada, Saskatchewan, and Saskatoon: A Literature Review and the Voices of the People.
- McRae, Stacy, and Keith Walker. 2007. *An Evaluation of Family to Family Ties: A Review of Family Mentorship in Action.*

- Moneo, Cameron, Maria Basualdo, Isobel Findlay, and Wendy MacDermott. 2008. Broadway Theatre Membership Assessment. A Research Report.
- Muhajarine, Nazeem, Maureen Horn, Jody Glacken, Trina Evitts, Debbie Pushor, and Brian Keegan. 2007. *Full-Time Kindergarten in Saskatchewan*, Part One: *An Evaluation Framework for Saskatchewan Full-Time Kindergarten Programs*.
- Muhajarine, Nazeem, Trina Evitts, Maureen Horn, Jody Glacken, and Debbie Pushor. 2007. *Full-Time Kindergarten in Saskatchewan*, Part Two: *An Evaluation of Full-Time Kindergarten Programs in Three School Divisions*.
- Ofosuhene, Maxwell. 2003. Saskatchewan River Basin-Wide Survey of Resident's Attitudes Towards Water Resources and the Environment.
- Olfert, Sandi. 2003. Quality of Life Leisure Indicators.

Proceedings of the Prairie Urban Congress 2001 on housing and homelessness on the Canadian Prairies. 2002.

- Prokop, Shelley T. 2009. Program Evaluation of the Saskatoon Community Clinic Strengthening the Circle Program.
- Propp, A.J. (Jim). 2005. Preschool: As Essential As Food: an Effectiveness Review of the Saskatoon Preschool Foundation Tuition Subsidy Program.
- Quality of Life Module. *Quality of Life in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan: Achieving a Healthy, Sustainable Community* (November 2006 summary of research, 2004 iteration).
- Quality of Life Research Briefing. 2010.
- Radloff, Karla. 2006. Community Resilience, Community Economic Develoment, and Saskatchewan Economic Developers.
- Reed, Maureen. 2003. Situating Indicators of Social Well-Being in Rural Saskatchewan Communities.
- Roberts, Claire. 2006. Refugee Women and Their Postpartum Experiences.
- Ruby, Tabassum. 2004. Immigrant Muslim Women and the Hijab: Sites of Struggle in Crafting and Negotiating Identities in Canada.
- Sanderson, Kim, Michael Gertler, Diane Martz, and Ramesh Mahabir. 2005. Farmer's Markets in North America: A Background Document.
- Schmidt, Heather, Patrick Derocher, Jeff McCallum, and Yolanda McCallum. 2006. Understanding the Strengths of the Indigenous Communities. Flying Dust First Nation Focus Group Report.
- Seguin, Maureen. 2006. Alberta Mentoring Partnerships: Overview and Recommendations to Saskatoon Mentoring Agencies.
- Sinclair, Raven, and Sherri Pooyak. 2007. *Aboriginal Mentoring in Saskatoon: A Cultural Perspective*.

- Soles, Kama. 2003. Affordable, Accessible Housing Needs Assessment at the North Saskatchewan Independent Living Centre.
- Spence, Cara, and Isobel M. Findlay. 2007. *Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy: A Research Report.*
- Stadnyk, Nadia, Nazeem Muhajarine, and Tammy J. Butler. 2005. *The Impact of KidsFirst Saskatoon Home Visiting Program in Families' Lives*. Appendix A (1.07 MB) Appendix B (4.25 MB) Appendix C (1.1 MB).
- Sun, Yinshe. 2005. Development of Neighbourhood Quality of Life Indicators.
- *Taking the Pulse of Saskatoon and Saskatchewan.* City of Saskatoon Poll (Quality of Life Telephone Survey, January 2001)
- Tannis, Derek. 2006. Mentoring in Saskatoon: Toward a Meaningful Partnership.
- Tupone, Juliano. 2003. The Core Neighbourhood Youth Co-op: A Review and Long-Term Strategy.
- Wohlgemuth, Nicole R. 2004. School Fees in Saskatoon.
- Woods, Florence. 2003. Access to Food in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhood.
- Wright, Judith, and Nazeem Muhajarine. 2003. *Respiratory Illness in Saskatoon Infants: The Impact of Housing and Neighbourhood Characteristics*.

To order from the list on pages 41–45, please contact: Community-University Institute for Social Research R.J.D. Williams Building 432 – 221 Cumberland Avenue Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 1M3 Phone: (306) 966–2136 / Fax: (306) 966–2122 E-mail: cuisr.liaison@usask.ca Website: www/usask.ca/cuisr

Regional Partner Organizations



Centre for the Study of Co-operatives



Community-University Institute for Social Research



Community Economic and Social Development Unit Algoma University



Winnipeg Inner-City Research Alliance



Institute of Urban Studies University of Winnipeg

Project Funding



Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada

